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Town Cancord

Place (neighborhood or village)

Concord center

Address 58 Monument Square

Historic Name__Masonic Hall/Town School

Uses: Present meeting hall
Original _meeting hall and schaolhouse

Date of Construction 1820

Source Wheeler

Style/Form __eclectic Victorian over Federal .
vernacular
Archi\tect/Builder nnknown

Exterior Material:

Foundation brick

Wall/Trim __brick and wood flushboard

Roof _asphalt shingle

| A ——

sheet if space is not suﬁciczent here Indicate north.

Outbuildings/Secondary Structures

none

.\ %% Major Alterations (with dates)
Q,&\ < \ —remodeled 1878;  rear addition 1920
\

=
\ { Condition good/fair
%;\ P
Moved [ Jno [X ]yes Date 1878

A Acreage less than one acre

Recorded by —_Anne Forhes consnitant Setting Set back from street: lawn in front w

Organization

Date




BUILDING FORM y : (¢
ARCHITECTURAL DESCRIPTION [ X | see Continuation sheet

Describe architectural features. Evaluate the characteristics of this building in terms of other buildings
within the community.

One of five buildings at the north end of Monument Square to contain a sizeable meeting hall or
public space, the Masonic Hall appears from the street very much as the diminutive 2 1/2-story,
three-bay, gable-end building that it was when built in 1820. A large rear wing of novelty textured
brick, however, was added a century later, in 1920. Although the massing of the main building
appears to have remained unchanged, the original belfry is gone, and much of the detailing of the
original common- and Flemish-bond brick front section was updated ca. 1880, when W.F. Hurd
refurbished it for the returning Corinthian Lodge. The windows, formerly 12-over-12’s, are 6-over-6-
sash on the facade and west side, and 2-over-2-sash on the east. Those on the facade have
projecting, molded crowns. The face of the gable is clad in vertical flush-boarding relieved by one
horizontal band and a sawtooth detail at the bottom. Both the roof and cornice were apparently
rebuilt at the time of the renovations; the overhanging cornice is boxed, with deep returns, and the
frieze has the same vertical board with sawtooth bottom edge as the face of the gable. Masonic
symbols are an important part of the embellishment of the facade. A true sawcut window "crown"
appears over a four-part window in the center gable which has masonic symbols in the colored glass
panels of its bottom section.

The main center entry, which has a modern double-leaf four-panel door with bullseye glass at the
top, has what appear to be paneled-in sidelights and flat pilasters. (The original entry was a narrow
Federal type, surmounted by a semicircular fanlight. In front of the entry is a projecting, pedimented
p%)rtico on two pairs of unfluted columns, with the Masonic symbol in the field of the pediment.

%I

HISTORICAL NARRATIVE [X] see continuation sheet

Explain history of the building. Explain its associations with local (or state) history. Include uses of the
building, and the role(s) the owners/occupants played within the community.

The second-oldest building standing on the southwest side of Monument Square, the Masonic Hall
(or Masonic Temple) not only signifies the long history of the Masons in Concord, but has also had
other identities as a town schoolhouse and firehouse. It was built in 1820, shortly after a fire
destroyed the old wooden schoolhouse of 1799 and a house that had been moved onto the property
from near Brister’s Hill. The town had owned this land since 1687, when Timothy Wheeler donated
it in his will for the building of a schoolhouse. All the town schoolhouses were replaced in 1799,
including the original one which stood here. Also standing on the land was the small house of
Timothy Minot(t), the schoolmaster. The 1799 school was destroyed by fire on December 31, 1819,
along with a relocated house belonging to David Page, the early-nineteenth-century schoolmaster,
which had stood just to the southeast on what was apparently the site of the first county courthouse
and town hall. The Minot house apparently survived the fire, and was moved to Bedford Street in
the early 1850’s (see Form #190--118 Bedford Street). (Cont.)

BIBLIOGRAPHY and/or REFERENCES [X] see continuation sheet

Maps and Atlases: 1830, 1852, 1856, 1875, 1889 (new location), 1906. Sanborns from 1887.
Caiger, E.B. History of the Corinthian Lodge, 1921.

Charles, W.A. An Historical Sketch of the Corinthian Lodge. 1970.

Concord Vital Records. - b

Drake. History of Middlesex County. 1880.
Hurd. History of Middlesex County. 1890. (Cont.)

[ X] Recommended for listing in the National Register of Historic Places*. If checked, a
completed National Register Criteria Statement form is attached. *NR-listed 1977,
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HISTORICAL NARRATIVE, cont.

The Corinthian Lodge of Freemasons received its charter in Concord in 1797, and for its first two
decades it had no permanent home. In January of 1820 a committee of Masons offered funds to
erect a brick building on the burned-out schoolhouse site, to be used for both a town school and a
meeting hall for the Masons. The lodge contributed $400 for the purpose, and by November the new
building was standing, with space for the center school, called for years simply the "Town School",
on the first story and rooms for the Masons on the upper story. Like the former schoolhouse, the
new building was 40 x 30 feet, two stories high, with a cupola and bell. Until the Town House was
built in 1851, the Town School served as the grammar school, and eventually housed the forerunner
of the town High School. Each of Concord’s school districts contributed part of its allotment to the
support of the Town School, where older boys were sent from all over town, and where some were
prepared for the university. Girls were admitted to the school as early as 1827

The best-known teacher at the Town School was Henry David Thoreau, who was hired as
schoolmaster in 1837 upon his graduation from Harvard. His tenure was brief, however, for he
resigned that same year when School Committee member Nehemiah Ball criticized him for his lack
of corporal punishment. Ironically, a few months later, during the anti-Masonic controversy of the
1830’s, Phineas Allen, master of the private Academy on Middle Street, was dismissed from his post
for his anti-Masonic views, and Henry Thoreau and his brother, John started a new school in the old
Academy building. (See Form #100--25 Middle Street).

This building underwent a change in use in the middle of the nineteenth century. The anti-Masonic
fervor led to a severe decline in the Masonic membership through the 1840’s, and for many years
the Corinthian Lodge held meetings only infrequently. The second-story hall was rented to the Odd
Fellows from 1844 to 1852, with the Lodge renting back the space by the evening in order to hold
their own meetings. Although when new the building had been called "large and elegant" by Dr.
Ezra Ripley, for years the first-story schoolroom was criticized for overcrowding and bad ventilation,
and in 1851 the grammar school and high school were both relocated to the new Town House. (See
Form #302). The first floor of the building was then refitted by the new town Fire Department to
house the Engine Company #1 fire engine.

The Masons continued in the upstairs hall through 1870. The next year they sold their interest in
this building back to the town, and subsequently relocated to the hall in the new Garty’s Block on
the Milldam (see Form #2--3-13 Main Street). The building continued to deteriorate, and in 1877
the town sold it to the past Master of the Corinthian Lodge, William F. Hurd, whose family had
inherited the adjoining property to the north. W.F. Hurd’s main vocation of the 1860’s-1890’s was
real estate development--including the conversion of another schoolhouse, the West Primary
Schoolhouse at 440 Main Street, to a residence (cf. also lower Elm Street and River Street areas).
He moved this building back from its old position close to the street, removed the old belfry, and
added a wooden addition to the rear. Judging from the style of the ornamentation in the upper
section of the facade, he apparently renovated the pediment, as well. The masonic lodge returned
to the hall in 1882, where it remains today. In 1909 the Masons purchased the entire property from
W.F. Hurd’s heirs, along with additional pieces of land along the west side and at the rear. In 1920
they built a large brick addition to replace the wooden one built by Mr. Hurd, and re-dedicated the
building in 1921.
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BIBLIOGRAPHY, cont.
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FOR USE WITH IMPORTANT STRUCTURES
Fireplace
Stairway

Other

GIVE A BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF HIST
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